Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Kelsey Mitchell

Date

Group B Streptococcus Colonization is Associated with Early Term Births

By

Kelsey Mitchell Degree to be awarded: Master of Public Health

Global Epidemiology

Dr. Michael R. Kramer, PhD Committee Chair

Dr. Ramkumar Menon, MD Committee Member

Group B Streptococcus Colonization is Associated with Early Term Births

By

Kelsey Mitchell

Bachelor of Science Cornell University 2010

Thesis Committee Chair: Dr. Michael Kramer, PhD

An abstract of A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health in Global Epidemiology 2012

Abstract

Group B Streptococcus Colonization is Associated with Early Term Births

By Kelsey Mitchell

OBJECTIVE: To document if maternal *Group B Streptococcus* (GBS) colonization between 35 and 37 weeks of gestation is associated with increased early term birth (between 37 and 39 weeks gestation).

METHODS: In this cohort study of women delivering at term at Centennial Women's Hospital in Nashville, TN, GBS status and other clinical and demographic data were obtained from medical records. Exposed women were those testing positive for GBS (GBS positive [n=490]) and the unexposed tested negative for GBS (GBS negative [n=1,127]). Students t-tests and logistic regression determined association between GBS status and early term delivery. Breslow-day tests were used to assess heterogeneity across race strata.

RESULTS: The average gestational age was reduced to 271.1 (95% CI 270.4, 271.1) days for the exposed, GBS positive women compared to 274.7 (95% CI 274.4, 275.1) days for unexposed, GBS negative women (p < 0.0001). The adjusted odds of early term birth was increased by 3 fold in the exposed (OR 3.28; 95% CI 2.60 - 4.15; p < 0.0001). The mean birth weight of GBS positive women was 3285.3 (95% CI 3242.6, 3327.9) grams that was lower than the GBS negative women, 3373.8 (95% CI 3348.9, 3398.7) grams (p = 0.0004).

CONCLUSION: Colonization with GBS may have detrimental effects to the term infant through shortening of the gestational age contributing to infant morbidity and mortality warranting appropriate intervention and monitoring of GBS status during pregnancy.

Group B Streptococcus Colonization is Associated with Early Term Births

By

Kelsey Mitchell

Bachelor of Science Cornell University 2010

Thesis Committee Chair: Dr. Michael Kramer, PhD

An abstract of A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health in Global Epidemiology 2012

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS: I would like to thank my field advisor Dr. Ramkumar Menon, and my thesis chair and mentor Dr. Michael Kramer. Both provided tremendous support, knowledge and guidance while writing my thesis. I would also like to thank Lina Brou and Geeta Bhat for their help developing and editing my thesis. Lastly, thank you to my family for their encouragement and advice throughout my graduate studies.

Table of Contents

Chapter I: Literature Review1
Group B Streptococcus1
Early onset disease1
Late onset disease 2
Risk factors for GBS3
Racial disparities in acquisition of GBS4
Prevention and treatment during pregnancy5
Term Birth9
Definition of terms9
Accuracy of gestational age determination10
Determinants of shortened gestational age 11
Outcomes based on gestational age 11
GBS as a possible determinant of gestational age14
Chapter II: Manuscript
Title Page16
Abstract
Introduction
Materials and Methods 22
Subject Recruitment
Statistical Analysis
Results
Discussion
Chapter III: Extended Conclusions
Further Racial Disparity Discussion
Strengths and Limitations
Public Health Implications
Future Directions
References
Tables

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Demographic and Clinical Data of Participants based on GBS status, Nashville TN (2003-2010)	
	43
Table 2: Gestational age of African Americans and Caucasian newborns, Nashville TN (2003-2010)	
	44
Table 3: Gestational weight of African American and Caucasians newborns, Nashville TN(2003-2010)	
	45
Table 4: Differences in mean gestational age and mean birth weight by race, Nashville TN(2003-2010)	
	46
Table 5: Number of gestational days difference between GBS positive and negative womenamong race based on linear regression, Nashville TN (2003-2010)	
	47
Table 6: Frequency and crude odds of early and later term birth by Group B Streptococcus sta and stratified by race, Nashville TN (2003-2010)	tus
	48
Table 7: Logistic regression evaluation of confounding of the OR for gestational age and GBS status, Nashville TN (2003-2010)	1

49

Chapter I: Literature Review

Group B Streptococcus

The bacterium, *Streptococcus agalactiae*, or more commonly known as Group B *Streptococcus* (GBS), normally resides in a women's intestines, vagina, or rectum. Approximately 10%-30% of women are asymptomatic carriers of GBS in the genital and gastrointestinal tracts (1-3). GBS is often not harmful to a women, however if passed to a child during pregnancy, labor, or delivery, GBS infection can be extremely harmful to an infant (1). GBS disease in infants is the leading cause of neonatal sepsis. Despite infants being most at risk, GBS infection has been found to be harmful to the elderly, and adults with chronic conditions such as diabetes and liver disease (4-6).

GBS can be acquired by the fetus during passage through the birth canal contributing to early and late onset diseases. Infants must be exposed to the bacteria at a mucus membrane site (7). In addition GBS infection can ascend vertically from the vaginal canal to the amniotic fluid after onset of labor or rupture of the membrane, however it can cross intact membranes as well (7, 8). If the bacterium crosses intact membranes it can lead to an intrauterine infection which has been associated with preterm birth (9). If the bacterium is aspirated it can lead to bacteremia in the infant.

Early onset disease

There are two types of GBS disease cases among infants: early onset disease and late onset disease. Early onset is classified as cases in which group B *Streptococcus* was isolated from infants younger than one week old (2, 10). Most early onset cases present within the first 48 hours after delivery (11). Early onset disease presents as respiratory

distress in infants, cardiovascular instability and apnea. The most common clinical symptoms observed are bacteremia, pneumonia, and meningitis found by one study to have be present in 83%, 9% and 7% of cases respectively (2). Early-onset disease usually results in rapid clinical deterioration and sepsis.

The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) Active Bacterial Core Surveillance reported in 2008 approximately 1,200 cases of early-onset disease per year with almost 70% of cases born at term (\geq 37 weeks), (12). This is equivalent to 0.28 cases of early-onset GBS disease per 1,000 live births. In the early 1990's, prior to implementation of preventative measures, there was an annual incidence of 1.7 earlyonset cases per 1,000 live births (13). In 2002 the CDC released revised guidelines for the prevention of early-onset disease causing the incidence of GBS early-onset in infants to decrease 27% from 0.47 cases per 1,000 live births in 2000 to 0.34 cases per 1,000 live births in 2004 with further decline by 2008. The case fatality rate for early onset disease has decreased from 50% in the 1970s to about 5% in 2009. The highest death rate was observed in infants with pneumonia (9%) and meningitis (4%) (2).

Late onset disease

Late onset-disease is cases that occur between one week and 3 months (2, 10). One study found 52% of infants with late-onset GBS disease were preterm births. Unlike early-onset disease, late-onset disease is not always acquired from the mother (11). One study found approximately 50% of cases of late onset disease were acquired from their colonized mother (14). Similar to early-onset disease, late-onset disease manifests as bacteremia (65%), meningitis (27%), and pneumonia (3%) (2). The CDC Active Bacterial Core Surveillance reported in 2008 approximately 1,100 cases of late-onset GBS disease per year (12). This is equivalent to 0.25 cases of late-onset GBS disease per 1,000 live births. This number has decreased slightly from 2005 however appears to remain fairly stable with slight yearly fluctuations (2). The case fatality rate is about 5% for all late-onset disease with the highest death rate among infants presenting with bacteremia (18%).

Risk factors for GBS

Many risks factors of GBS disease have been identified in the research over the past decades. Maternal vaginal colonization is the primary risk factor associated with early onset GBS disease. The prevalence of GBS colonization in pregnant women in the United States is 10-30%. Some studies have shown that rates of colonization among black women are higher than among white women (15). Women who are more heavily colonized have an increased risk of having a child with early-onset disease than women who have light colonization (16, 17). Other factors that increase the risk for early-onset disease include gestational age of < 37 completed weeks (preterm birth), premature rupture of the fetal membranes lasting more than 18 hours, intra-amniotic infection, previous delivery of a newborn with early-onset disease, low levels of circulating antibodies against group B Streptococcus, young maternal age, and high intrapartum temperatures (18-21). A study found that if there is a rupture of the membrane prior to labor the odds of observing group B Streptococcus disease in a neonate is 11.1 times higher (21). Campbell et al found that younger maternal age is a risk factor for earlyonset disease and hypothesized this is because of the lower levels of maternal anti-GBS antibody present at younger ages (22). Similarly, women who previously have had a child with early-onset disease may have lower levels of antibodies and therefore have subsequent risks for early-onset disease in subsequent pregnancies (11, 13).

The etiology of late-onset disease is not well known and therefore risk factors are not as well characterized (11). Similarly to early-onset disease; prematurity, African American race, and maternal colonization all appear to increase the risk of late-onset disease in an infant. However, as stated earlier, maternal colonization is not necessary for late-onset disease to occur.

Racial disparities in acquisition of GBS

Racial disparity is evident in GBS-associated adverse outcome with African Americans more susceptible than other racial groups. The rate of early-onset GBS infection among African Americans was almost two times higher than among whites in 2005 (12). In addition a study in Atlanta found that thirty percent of early-onset disease could be attributed to black race, independent of other risks factors (23). The same study found black infants had 35 times the risk of late-onset GBS disease as non-black infants. However this study did not take into account the higher prevalence of GBS infection in mothers. Furthermore, there has been an increase in the incidence of GBS early-onset disease in African American infants from 0.53 per 1,000 in 2003 to 0.86 per 1,000 in 2006 (p=0.005) (12, 24). The majority of this increase was driven by term African American infants. These differences in GBS disease may be due to the higher rate of GBS colonization in African American American women or some other unknown etiologic, socioeconomic or biological factors. African Americans have higher rates of preterm births compared to whites and the premature rupture of the membrane is a risk factor for

early-onset disease in infants, therefore this could play a role in the higher rates of disease observed in African American infants. Additionally, the susceptibility of African American infants to GBS related disease may be higher and could be contributing to the racial disparity observed in disease and adverse outcomes. The racial disparity has persisted despite the increased use of antibiotics and screening methods (11)

Prevention and treatment during pregnancy

The CDC developed guidelines in 2002 (updated in 2010) on screening for and prevention of adverse infant and maternal outcomes due to GBS (18). There are two primary strategies for determining if a pregnant woman is at risk of giving birth to a GBS positive infant. The first is a risk-based assessment technique. A woman who has the presence of any of the following is offered intrapartum antibiotic prophylaxis: delivery at less than 37 weeks, intrapartum temperature of greater than 100.4°F or rupture of membrane for more than 18 hours (18).

The second is a universal screening strategy which consists of all pregnant women having a recto-vaginal swab taken at 35-37 weeks. If a woman has a positive culture she is given intrapartum antibiotic prophylaxis. The positive predictive value of the culture taken within 5 weeks of delivery is 77-87% and the negative predictive value is 94-96% (25, 26). Colonization can be transient during the course of a pregnancy and therefore early colonization and positive swabs are not predictive of the risk of early-onset GBS disease in infants. The predictive value of the culture decreases if taken more than 5 weeks prior to delivery as well as one study found it decreased if specific culture procedures (recommended by the CDC) were not followed (26). A large population based retrospective study in the United States following more than 600,000 live births and 5,000 infants with early-onset GBS, concluded that the screening approach is over 50% more effective at preventing early-onset GBS disease than the risk based approach (27). In the CDC guidelines in 2002 they adopted this conclusion and recommend culture-based screenings in the 35-37 gestational week to determine the women who should be offered intrapartum antibiotics (18). Women who have GBS bacteriuria (presence of bacteria in the urine) at any point during pregnancy and women with a history of a previous infant with early-onset GBS should be given intrapartum antibiotic prophylaxis (11, 18). In addition the CDC guidelines do not recommend antibiotics when a planned cesarean delivery before the onset of labor or rupture of membrane occurs.

Intrapartum antibiotic prophylaxis are antibiotics that are given during the period of labor or delivery (intrapartum) with the purpose to prevent infection (prophylaxis) (28). Some studies suggest this treatment reduces the risk to the neonate of early onset disease. However, a recent Cochrane review concluded that there was high risk of bias in study methodology in many of the major studies done on the subject and therefore more studies need to be done before a strong conclusion can be drawn (29). Studies found that even when using the maternal screening method and the appropriate antibiotic regime, early-onset group B streptococcal disease in infants still occurred (30, 31). This could partially be explained by women who have false negative screening results and therefore are not offered antibiotics, insufficient screening, suboptimal antibiotics given, and screening prior to the recommended time (31-34). For preterm infants the CDC has developed an algorithm for physicians to follow (18). The algorithm suggests that if women do not have a previous GBS culture they obtain a culture immediately. The recommendations err on the safe side stating that women should start intrapartum antibiotic prophylaxis prior to results of the culture, subsequently discontinuing them if and when culture results return negative. There is a similar algorithm for the use of intrapartum antibiotic prophylaxis in women with preterm premature rupture of membranes (pPROM).

In addition to preventing the transmission of bacteria from the mother to the child (primary prevention), the CDC has recommended guidelines for preventing disease in the infant if he/she does acquire the bacteria (secondary prevention). As stated, studies have found that infants still acquire early-onset GBS disease despite the widespread use of the universal screening method (31, 33). In addition, with the implementation of universal screening, over 60% of early-onset GBS cases have been found in mothers who screen negative (31). Physicians must therefore be aware of the signs of sepsis and early-onset GBS disease. Signs of sepsis include: respiratory distress, apnea, fever or unstable temperature, acidosis, and pallor (35). If any of these early signs occur the CDC recommends performing blood and cerebrospinal fluid cultures (18). Some recommend giving the infant broad spectrum antibiotics prior to obtaining culture results (35). In addition, chorioamnionsitis in the mother is a risk factor for early-onset GBS disease and can potentially cause intrapartum antibiotics to fail in preventing GBS disease in infants. Therefore the CDC recommends all children born to a mother with chorioamnionsitis should undergo a diagnostic evaluation and receive antibiotics while waiting for the results.

In some situations mothers do not receive adequate intrapartum antibiotic prophylaxis because of the duration of exposure prior to delivery or use of an antibiotic with lower efficacy (18). It is recommended that these babies stay in the hospital to be observed for clinical signs of sepsis for 24 to 48 hours (35). Some studies suggest diagnostic testing be performed in this situation however, the latest CDC guidelines suggest simply observing "well-appearing" babies in the hospital (18, 36).

The antibiotic recommended by the CDC is penicillin. Women who are allergic to penicillin should receive cefazolin (if no history of anaphylaxis) or clindamycin (if high risk of anaphylaxis) (18, 37). Antimicrobial susceptibility testing should be done on the culture in cases with women who are allergic to penicillin. Intrapartum antibiotic prophylaxis should be given for at least 4 hours prior to delivery if possible.

The extensive use of intrapartum antibiotic prophylaxis in GBS positive women resulting in antibiotic resistance has been a major concern of experts in regards to the CDC guidelines. As of 2010 GBS is still susceptible to penicillin and ampicillin (11). However other gram negative bacterium such as E. coli has shown increasing levels of antibiotic resistance to penicillin and ampicillin (38). This raises concern in the future for women who are allergic to penicillin and GBS positive. In addition, GBS resistance to macrolides such as clindamycin appears to be rising. Various studies in the United States have found about 10-20% of GBS strands to be clindamycin resistant (39-41). Other studies report erythromycin resistance increasing. Although clindamycin and erythromycin should only be used in women who are allergic to penicillin, reports suggest penicillin is only being used 49% of the time (38). The increasing resistance of GBS to erythromycin and clindamycin highlights the importance of choosing antibiotics carefully.

Many studies conclude that an effective vaccine against GBS is the only way to effectively eliminated early and late-onset GBS disease in infants (29, 32). A vaccine would decrease the concern over antimicrobial resistance as well as help to prevent lateonset GBS disease in infants, and GBS disease in non-pregnant adults (13, 42). Vaccines against GBS are being developed and researched, however no commercially available vaccine has been released yet. There are several phase II studies being done, however the differences in serotypes throughout the world has made it difficult to develop an effective vaccine (42). Analysis done on cost-effectiveness of prevention strategies found vaccines to be by far the most cost effective option if one were to be developed that was safe and effective (43, 44). Vaccine trials in pregnant woman are slow due to the added ethical and health issues associated with research on pregnant women. In addition to targeting pregnant women, some studies suggest targeting adolescent women in order to prevent GBS transmissions in pPROM or lack of second trimester prenatal visits (13, 45, 46). The main concern with adolescent vaccination is the duration of protection and persistence of antibodies in the blood (46).

Term Birth

Definition of terms

Gestational age can be described using two different nomenclatures. First physicians often describe gestational age by the week of gestation completed (47). The week of gestation completed is often reported as the number of completed weeks from the first day of the last menstrual period. The second nomenclature used describes periods of gestational age thought to be based on clinical differences in morbidity and mortality of infants based on completed gestation (48). In 1970 a working party at the *Second European Congress of Perinatal Medicine* agreed on the following terms: preterm-gestation less than 259 days or 37 weeks; term-259-293 days or 37-41 weeks; and post term- greater than 294 days or 42 weeks.

Accuracy of gestational age determination

Gestational age can be measured in several ways, one of which is starting at the first day of a women's last menstrual period (LMP) (47). The estimated delivery date is 280 days from LMP. Determining gestational age using women's menstrual cycles and LMP can be unreliable as the LMP can be remembered inaccurately by a woman (49, 50). In addition the follicular phase, the time between menstruation and ovulation, can vary in women with irregular periods and may not be equal to the conventionally assigned 14 days. These inaccuracies can cause misclassification of infants as term when they are preterm.

Gestational age can also be determined clinically using ultrasound to measure the size of the head, abdomen and thigh bone of the growing fetus (51). Ultrasound measurement is more accurate if done earlier in pregnancy and not recommended past 20 weeks gestation (52). Studies have found gestational age determined by ultrasound and LMP to be similar; LMP estimates are 0.8 days longer on average than the estimates using the ultrasound method (49). However, some reports indicate agreement between methods in the term period and significant disagreement in preterm and postterm births (53).

Determinants of shortened gestational age

Some risk factors associated with preterm birth are: infection and inflammation, vascular disease, uterine over-distension, previous preterm birth, black race, low maternal body-mass index, and short cervical length (54, 55). Risk factors associated with preterm births could potentially be contributing to early term births as well. Maternal factors that have been associated with early term births include: advanced age (> 35 years), multiparity, and being single (56). Whether other maternal, environmental, and fetal factors differentiate early term birth from late term birth needs to be established. Elective early preterm delivery has also been identified as the most common modifiable cause.

Maternal and neonatal infection is one of the major factors associated with preterm birth. Certain vaginal/cervical colonizers during the latter half of the third trimester may induce an immune response that can potentially result in early term deliveries. Group B *Streptococcus* (GBS) is one bacterium that is normally screened between 35 - 37 weeks of pregnancy (11, 18) and has a high rate of infant mortality due to early onset disease leading to sepsis.

Outcomes based on gestational age

Gestational age is biologically continuous, however when considering the morbidity and mortality associated with gestational age at birth, most people think in terms of preterm, term and post-term categories. Recent research suggests that these categorizations may be misleading and may not portray the message most people believe they do (56, 57). Reddy et al. contends that the period known as "term" is not a homogenous period of time and that in fact there is variation in morbidity and mortality

associated with lower gestational week within the "term" period (56). The entire "term" period may not be a low risk period for all deliveries.

An analysis of the U.S. period-linked birth and infant death data of U.S singleton births from 1995 to 2001 found a 50% increased risk of infant death by 37 completed weeks compared to 39 weeks (0.66 per 1,000 live births at 37 weeks and 0.33 per 1,000 live births at 39 weeks) (58). More recently a similar study using data from 1995 to 2006 found a relative risk of 2.6 for white mothers and 2.9 for non-Hispanic African American mothers for neonatal death at 37 weeks compared to 40 weeks (56). This analysis did mention that the relative risk declined slightly when deaths related to birth defects were excluded. In a large population based survey of repeat caesarean sections the analysis found a risk of adverse outcomes (included: respiratory, admission to NICU, newborn sepsis or hospitalization) 2.1 times higher with a gestational age of 37 weeks compared to 39 weeks (59). Similarly an analysis done on all preterm and term births in an urban hospital found a two to three time higher risk of adverse outcomes when comparing 37 weeks to 39 weeks (60). The same analysis concluded that there was a 23% decrease in adverse outcomes with each additional week from 23 to 29 weeks.

The most common gestational age associated morbidity studied is respiratory morbidity and mortality. Early term births are at an increased risk for respiratory disorders and severe respiratory failures (60, 61). Some studies estimate as high as a two times higher risk of severe respiratory disorder at 38 weeks compared to 39+ weeks (61). In addition other studies have been done that conclude that there is an increased risk of respiratory disorders for late preterm births (35-36wks) compared to term births (62-64).

These studies combine all of term into one category and could potentially be inadvertently masking the heightened risk that still exists at and after 37 weeks.

In addition to respiratory disorders there is a decreased need for resuscitation in the delivery room as the gestational age increases from 34 to 42 weeks (65). The odds of serious neonatal pulmonary disease appear to be highest at 37 weeks in low-risk pregnancies and decreases with increased gestational age (64). The frequency of the need to use mechanical ventilation in neonates appears to decrease as gestational age increases; it appears to be higher in those who are 37-38 weeks (early term) compared to 39 weeks (61, 64, 66). Some of these studies similarly group gestational weeks into categories rather than leaving them as continuous and therefore fail to show the risks associated with each week of gestation.

Due to the heightened risk of adverse outcomes, the rate of hospital stays and length of hospital stays is shorter as gestational age increases (60, 64, 67, 68). Neonatal intensive care unit (NICU) admissions decrease with each additional gestational week until 39 in which the frequency plateaus (68). In addition, stays in the NICU longer than 7 days decreases with a gestational week, however the categorization of gestational age in this study does not allow us to conclude the level at which it plateaus (60).

Studies have shown that even small decreases in gestational age within the term period decreases gray matter density in children 6-10 years of age (69). Authors conclude that "small differences in gestational age can have lasting effects on neurodevelopment for both term and preterm infants and may contribute to long-term risk for health and disease," (69). This may relate to studies that show gradual increase in IQ scores from 37 to 40 week gestation (70).

There has been a plethora of studies that look at long term results of preterm birth in terms of educational achievement, economic burden to society, and behavioral and psychiatric issues (71-78). The majority of these studies analyze the data using the referent category as 37 weeks and beyond, in this way considering term as a homogenous group and the continuum of gestational age is lost. A handful of studies done by Lindström et al using a Swedish cohort categorizes gestational age into smaller groups and shows a moderate effect of gestational age on academic and professional achievement, psychiatric admission to hospitals, and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) (72, 73, 79). The Swedish cohort showed that infants born with a gestational age less than 39 weeks attended postsecondary education less, were employed less, and were more likely to receive social welfare benefits. Additionally Lindström et al concluded that 85% of the risk of psychiatric admissions to hospitals were attributable to preterm and early term births (73).

The risks associated with preterm birth seem to persist into the early term period (58). However, not enough studies treat gestational age as a continuum and treat the 5-week term period as one homogenous period of time in terms of risk. If studies were to break up term births into categories such as early term $(37^{0/7}-38^{6/7})$ and late term $(39^{0/7}-41^{6/7})$, as some of the studies have suggested, more of the risks thought to be associated with preterm birth may be seen in the early term period as well (56, 57).

GBS as a possible determinant of gestational age

Given the differences in neonatal outcomes in early term and late term births, defining the determinants that contribute to early term births is important. Some risk factors associated with preterm birth are: infection and inflammation, vascular disease, uterine over-distension, previous preterm birth, black race, low maternal body-mass index, and short cervical length (54, 55). Some maternal factors that are associated with early term births are: advanced age (> 35 years), multiparity, and being single (56). Whether other maternal, environmental and fetal factors differentiate early term birth from late term birth needs to be established.

Maternal and neonatal infection is one of the major factors associated with preterm birth. Certain vaginal/cervical colonizers during the latter half of third trimester may induce an immune response that can potentially result in early term deliveries. Group B *Streptococcus* (GBS) is one bacterium that is normally screened between 35 - 37 weeks of pregnancy and has the highest rate of infant mortality due to early onset disease leading to sepsis (11, 18). Studies to date have looked at GBS status in relation to preterm birth but none have studied the effects of GBS status on term births and gestational age (12, 16, 80). Understanding the association between GBS colonization during late third trimester and early birth outcomes at term could lead to better case management of GBS positive women and potential avoidance of adverse outcomes. We hypothesize that GBS colonization, in otherwise normal pregnancies, increases the incidence of early term delivery (37 - 39 weeks).

Chapter II: Manuscript

Title Page

Group B *Streptococcus* Colonization is Associated with Early Term Births Kelsey MITCHELL,¹ Lina BROU,² Geeta BHAT,² Michael R. KRAMER¹, Cayce DROBEK,³ Stephen J FORTUNATO,³ Ramkumar MENON²

1: Rollins School of Public Health, Emory University, Atlanta, GA

2: Dept of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Division of Maternal-Fetal Medicine, The University of Texas Medical Branch, Galveston, TX

3: The Perinatal Research Center, Nashville, TN

Disclosure: None of the authors have conflicts of interest

Reprint request:

Ramkumar Menon, MS, PhD

Dept of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Division of Maternal – Fetal Medicine,

MRB-11

The University of Texas Medical Branch at Galveston

301 University Blvd, Galveston, TX

E – mail - <u>Ram.Menon@utmb.edu</u>

KEY WORDS/ PHRASES: pregnancy, infection, preterm birth, vaginal colonization, GBS

Abstract

OBJECTIVE: To document if maternal *Group B Streptococcus* (GBS) colonization between 35 and 37 weeks of gestation is associated with increased early term birth (between 37 and 39 weeks gestation).

METHODS: In this cohort study of women delivering at term at Centennial Women's Hospital in Nashville, TN, GBS status and other clinical and demographic data were obtained from medical records. Exposed women were those testing positive for GBS (GBS positive [n=490]) and the unexposed tested negative for GBS (GBS negative [n=1,127]). Students t-tests and logistic regression determined association between GBS status and early term delivery. Breslow-day tests were used to assess heterogeneity across race strata.

RESULTS: The average gestational age was reduced to 271.1 (95% CI 270.4, 271.1) days for the exposed, GBS positive women compared to 274.7 (95% CI 274.4, 275.1) days for unexposed, GBS negative women (p < 0.0001). The adjusted odds of early term birth was increased by 3 fold in the exposed (OR 3.28; 95% CI 2.60 - 4.15; p < 0.0001). The mean birth weight of GBS positive women was 3285.3 (95% CI 3242.6, 3327.9) grams that was lower than the GBS negative women, 3373.8 (95% CI 3348.9, 3398.7) grams (p = 0.0004).

CONCLUSION: Colonization with GBS may have detrimental effects to the term infant through shortening of the gestational age contributing to infant morbidity and mortality warranting appropriate intervention and monitoring of GBS status during pregnancy.

Introduction

The notion of term birth as a homogenous class has recently been challenged (56-58). Previously term birth, $37^{0/7}$ to $41^{6/7}$ weeks gestation, was considered clinically as a single period. However recent research has begun to examine the period referred to as "term birth," and the variations in infant mortality rate within this period (56). When examined more closely, this period is non-uniform in the distribution of the risk of infant morbidity and mortality. Zhang et al reported the increased risk of infant mortality during the preterm period persists into the early term period of 37 through 38 weeks (58). Mortality rate for infants born at 37 week gestational age was 3.9 per 1,000 live births, 2.5 per 1,000 live births at 38 weeks and 1.9 per 1,000 live births for infants born at 40 weeks gestation in 2006 (56). In these reports "early term" birth is referred to as births occurring between $37^{0/7}$ and $38^{6/7}$ weeks gestation and "late term" birth is from $39^{0/7}$ to $41^{6/7}$ weeks gestation (56).

The disadvantage of early term birth may extend through childhood with infants born in the early term period showing increased rates of disability (69-71). Studies have shown that even small decreases in gestational age within the term period decreases gray matter density in children 6-10 years of age (69). This may relate to studies that show gradual increase in IQ scores from 37 to 40 week gestation (70).

Given the differences in neonatal outcomes in early term and late term births, defining the determinants that contribute to early term births is important. Some riskfactors associated with preterm birth are: infection and inflammation, vascular disease, uterine over-distension, previous preterm birth, black race, low maternal body-mass index, and short cervical length (54, 55). Risk factors associated with preterm births could potentially be contributing to early term births as well. Maternal factors that have been associated with early term births include: advanced age (> 35 years), multiparity, and being single (56). Whether other maternal, environmental, and fetal factors differentiate early term birth from late term birth needs to be established. Elective early preterm delivery has also been identified as the most common modifiable cause.

Maternal and neonatal infection is one of the major factors associated with preterm birth. Certain vaginal/cervical colonizers during the latter half of the third trimester may induce an immune response that can potentially result in early term deliveries. Group B Streptococcus (GBS) is one bacterium that is normally screened between 35 - 37 weeks of pregnancy (11, 18) and has a high rate of infant mortality due to early onset disease leading to sepsis. GBS can be acquired by the fetus from a colonized mother mainly through two mechanisms. The fetus can be infected prior to the onset of labor by an infection that ascends vertically from the vaginal canal crossing intact membranes to establish intraamniotic infection (7, 8, 18). The infant can also be infected during delivery as it passes through the vagina. The major adverse neonatal outcome associated with Group B Streptococcus (GBS) colonization of the maternal genital tract is early neonatal sepsis. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) Active Bacterial Core Surveillance reported in 2008 approximately 1,200 cases of early onset disease per year with almost 70% of cases born at term (\geq 37 weeks) (2, 18). GBS disease in infants is associated with significant morbidity and mortality. An estimated 6.8% that are diagnosed with early onset disease due to GBS die (2).

Studies to date have looked at GBS status in relation to preterm birth (2, 12, 16, 80, 81), but none have studied the effects of GBS status on gestational age at term.

Understanding this association between GBS colonization during late third trimester and early birth outcome at term could lead to better case management of GBS positive women and potential avoidance of adverse outcomes. We hypothesize that GBS colonization, in otherwise normal pregnancies, increases the incidence of early term delivery (37 - 39 weeks).

Reports consistently indicate a racial disparity in GBS-associated adverse infant outcome where African Americans are shown to have a higher incidence than other racial groups. The rate of early onset GBS infection among African Americans was almost two times higher than among Caucasians in 2005 (2, 18). In addition, over time there has been an increase in the incidence of GBS early onset disease in African American infants from 0.52 per 1,000 in 2003 to 0.89 per 1,000 in 2005 (p=0.005) (2). The primary objective of this study is to document if maternal GBS colonization leads to early term birth and secondarily to determine any racial disparities associated with this condition. We also determined the effect of GBS colonization on birth weight in this study population.

Materials and Methods

Subject Recruitment

Data for this report was derived from two data resources at the Perinatal Research Center, Nashville, TN. Parent studies were designed to examine genetic and biomarker risk factors associated with spontaneous preterm birth for which extensive demographic and clinical data were collected from cases (preterm vaginal birth) and controls (term vaginal deliveries). These studies were approved by the Institutional Review Boards at TriStar, the parent company of the Institutional Review Board for Centennial Women's Hospital in Nashville, TN and also by WIRB, Seattle, WA. The current study was determined by Emory IRB to not require IRB approval. Term controls from the parent study make up the study population for this report. Subjects were included in the study after informed consent was obtained. The Centennial Women's Hospital is a tertiary care hospital and receives many high-risk pregnancy referrals from Middle Tennessee. Pregnant women ages 18-40 were recruited from the Centennial Women's Hospital from September 2003 to December 2010.

Subjects included in this report had spontaneous onset of labor followed by vaginal delivery. All subjects with labor induction or cesarean sections at term (irrespective of GBS status) were excluded. Subjects with preterm labor, preterm prelabor rupture of the membranes, multiple gestations, preeclampsia, placenta previa, fetal anomalies, and/or medical (such as gestational diabetes mellitus)/ surgical complications of pregnancy and delivering at term were excluded. Gestational age was determined by date of last menstrual period. Participants without gestational age were excluded. Only patients who delivered at term $(37^{0/7} \text{ weeks to } 42^{0/7} \text{ weeks})$ were included in our study. Group B Streptococcus status was obtained from medical records and those who tested GBS positive when screened between 35-37 weeks gestation, were considered exposed and those who were GBS negative were unexposed. Race was determined by self-report from a set of provided choices and determined by the race of the mother and father of the fetus, their parents, and grandparents. Subjects of mixed race were excluded from this study. Only those who identified as non-Hispanic African American or non-Hispanic Caucasian were included in the study.

Statistical Analysis

Analyses were conducted to assess comparability of the unexposed group and exposed groups. For categorical variables χ^2 tests were used to assess statistical differences in the distribution of demographic and clinical characteristics between GBS positive and GBS negative women. Gestational age was analyzed as a continuous variable and dichotomized into early term ($37^{0/7} - 38^{6/7}$ weeks) and late term ($39^{0/7} - 41^{6/7}$ weeks) births. Student's t-tests were used to determine statistical differences for continuous variables. In addition, t-tests were performed to determine if racial disparities exist among GBS positive vs. negative women. Chi-squared Brewlow-Day tests were used to assess heterogeneity between race stratum in the association between GBS status and early and late term births.

Logistic regression was performed to determine if GBS positive status was associated with shortened gestational age (early and late term births) and then stratified on race to observe possible disparities. Potential confounders adjusted for in logistic regression analysis included: marital status, continuous maternal age, education, employment status, gravidity, smoking status, income level, and insurance.

All analyses were performed with SAS 9.2 and p-values less than 0.05 were considered significant.

Results

A total of 1,617 subjects were included in the study. Of these 608 (37%) were African Americans and 1,039 were Caucasians. Data on the demographic and clinical characteristics of the GBS positive and negative groups are presented in Table 1. The average age of mothers in our study was 27 years. Overall, thirty percent (n=490) of the women in our study were found to be positive for GBS, which is consistent with the national prevalence of GBS in pregnant women. The GBS positive and negative populations had certain similar characteristics. They did not differ significantly in marital status, income, insurance status, maternal education, smoking status, maternal age or gravidity. In our study population there was a significant difference between GBS status among race (p = 0.0002), gestational age (=<0.0001), birth weight (p=0.0005) and APGAR score at 5 minutes (p=0.02).

The average gestational age was significantly reduced to 271.4 (95% CI 270.4, 271.7) for GBS positive women compared to 274.7 (95% CI 274.4, 275.1) days for GBS negative women (p < 0.001). In a racially stratified analysis there appears to be a significant mean reduction in gestational age between GBS positive and GBS negative women for both races (African American: p<0.001; Caucasian: p<0.001) (Table 2).

Overall, there was no difference in gestational age between African Americans and Caucasians (p=0.44) (Table 4). However, in our study African American infants had an average birth weight of 3234.7 grams and Caucasian infants had on average a significantly higher birth weight of 3412.5 grams (p<0.001).

Multivariable analysis indicated that the odds of early term birth was increased by 3 fold in GBS positive women (OR 3.28; 95%CI 2.60 - 4.15; p <0.0001) adjusting for marital status, smoking status, income level and insurance. There appeared to be an interaction between GBS and race in early and late term births (Table 6) (p=0.033). The crude odds of early term birth in Caucasian women is 4.06 (95% CI 3.04, 5.43) and for

African American women the odds ratio is 2.48 (95% CI 1.75, 3.51) when considering the interaction between race and GBS status. Moreover, when gestational age was considered as a continuous variable the interaction between GBS and race was also significant (Table 5) (p=0.0245). However, the significant interaction between race and GBS status disappears when adjusting for marital status, smoking status, income level, and insurance.

The mean birth weight for the GBS positive group was 3285.3 (95% CI 3242.6, 3327.9) grams while for the GBS negative group mean birth weight was 3373.8 (95% CI 3348.9, 3398.7) grams (p = 0.0004). Racial disparities were found in birth weight. Table 3 describes the birth weight differences in GBS status stratified by African Americans and Caucasians. Among African American women birth weight does not show a significant difference based on GBS status (p=0.3213). However, among Caucasian women GBS positive status does on average significantly lower birth weight compared to GBS negative status (p<0.001).

Discussion

Recent reports have described the period of "term birth" (delivery after the completion of 37 weeks of gestation) as non-uniform and have suggested that pregnancies should be managed in such a way as to prolong gestational age (56-58). The determinants of early term birth have not been extensively studied; although, lower gestational age can have a large impact on the health and development of the child. Early term birth (37 – 39 weeks) and late term births (39 to 42 weeks) have different impacts on neonatal outcome (69-71). However studies primarily examine impacts of preterm birth versus term birth rather than looking at early term versus late term births. Infants

born with a longer gestational age have lower neonatal and infant mortality rates (56). The physiologic reasons for early onset of labor at term have not been extensively studied in part because the pathologic consequences are largely unclear and not emphasized clinically. Since the causal factors for early term labor and delivery have not been clearly established, we examined one of the potential bacterial factors – cervical vaginal GBS colonization - screened between 35 - 37 weeks as a factor associated with this condition.

The results of our study, based on screening of 1,662 women from Nashville Birth Cohort in Tennessee, USA, illustrate that women who are GBS positive between 35-37 weeks gestation are more likely to have an early term birth and a child with a lower birth weight. In our population, GBS positive as compared to negative women are 3 times more likely to deliver between 37 and 39 weeks rather than delivering from 39 to 41 weeks. Our results suggest that women who are GBS positive have a greater risk of an early term birth and it is also associated with significant reduction in birth weight. Both of which can contribute to morbidities similar to that seen in infection associated with preterm birth.

In addition to its association with higher rates of infant morbidity and mortality (56, 57), early term birth can affect the development of the child, the cost of healthcare and may prolong hospital stays. Studies have shown associations between infants born during the early term period and lower cognitive development and in some cases lower IQ (69-71).

African American women historically have higher prevalence of colonization and adverse neonatal outcomes due to GBS colonization (2, 18). Our results showed lower birth weights among African American women and lower birth weight among GBS positive women. These results indicate that GBS colonization could potentially be a contributing factor to the low birth weight we found among African American women.

More studies are required to determine how GBS positive pregnancies should be managed in order to prolong the gestational age of the child and to determine, if prolonged, is there better childhood outcomes. As suggested by Reddy et al, 40 weeks of gestation has the lowest infant mortality rates across all races and should be regarded as the optimal gestational age to use as a control group rather than analyzing infants born over the entire term period (56). The CDC currently recommends that women who are GBS positive should be treated with intrapartum antibiotic prophylaxis except in the instance of cesarean delivery (18). Some studies suggest this treatment reduces the risk to the neonate of early onset diseases. However, a recent Cochrane review concluded there was insufficient evidence to support a strong conclusion and that more studies need to be done (29). In addition, intrapartum antibiotic prophylaxis does not address the issue of prolonging the pregnancy because the recommended antibiotics are only given after the rupture of the membrane and/or initiation of labor.

There have been few studies conducted on the effectiveness of reducing maternal colonization with GBS by intravenous administration of prophylactic antibiotics antepartum. Studies that have considered treatment in the late third trimester have found its effectiveness in reducing maternal GBS colonization at delivery (82). This treatment option may reduce the risk of intrauterine infection, prolong gestation and prevent early onset neonatal diseases. The CDC does not recommend antepartum antibiotic because some studies indicate the risk of adverse neonatal outcomes (18). Recolonization after

early treatment is common, decreasing the effectiveness of antibiotic prophylaxis on neonatal disease in those patients treated before the onset of labor.

Our study has several innate strengths. There is little room for misclassification bias due to the clearly defined outcomes and recruitment methodology. The study results are also strengthened by the lack of missing data in the dataset especially within the outcome and predictor variables. In addition, the population was clearly stratified in terms of age, race, and other demographic data in this and previous studies (83-85).

Some limitations of the study should be noted. The study is limited to data drawn from one hospital in the South Eastern United States and is yet to be replicated elsewhere. The risk factors associated with early term can be multifactorial and therefore difficult to attribute to one single risk factor. There could be confounders that we have not yet considered or controlled for in our study. The fact that the Group B positive women had a higher incidence of smokers is a cause for concern. This finding could be unrelated, could be a contributing factor to early delivery or could be because of increased susceptibility to colonization due to smoking.

Once GBS colonization is confirmed as one of the risk factors for early term birth, future studies should consider the mechanistic factors leading to early term birth. These can include differences in either maternal or fetal immune response, resulting in early labor. A review of the association between GBS and preterm delivery suggest that bacterial products such as peptidoglycan polysaccharide and phospholipase, can induce a cytokine cascade that may result in labor by stimulation of the prostaglandin pathway (86). Previous studies have also shown that different bacteria produce unique biomarker signatures and GBS provokes a unique inflammatory response from fetal tissues (9). Based on these studies and our own current findings reported here, in future studies we will examine biomarkers that are associated with GBS colonization in an attempt to elucidate the mechanistic factors associated with this condition.

Chapter III: Extended Conclusions

Further Racial Disparity Discussion

Our study found the average gestational age was significantly reduced in GBS positive women compared to GBS negative women (p < 0.001). In a racially stratified analysis gestational age does not appear to be significantly different between GBS positive and GBS negative women for either race, African American or Caucasian (African American: p<0.001; Caucasian: p<0.001) (Table 2). In addition, overall in our study, there was no difference in gestational age between African Americans and Caucasians (p=0.44) (Table 4).

However, when Breslow-Day tests were performed on frequency tables of early and late term infants and GBS status stratified on race there appeared to be a significant difference between the crude odds ratios (Table 6) (p=0.033). The frequency table showed higher crude odds of early term births when GBS positive in Caucasian women (OR=4.06). This could be due to the multifactorial processes at work in pregnancy and gestational age in African American women. The excess risk of preterm births and lower gestational age in African Americans has been studied with no decisive conclusion of the cause. The relative impact of a single factor, such as GBS, may alone have a relatively small impact in African Americans compared to Caucasians due to the other risk factors and processes in play.

Our analysis using interaction terms of GBS and race in models agreed with the conclusions of the Breslow-Day tests. There appeared to be an interaction between GBS and race in early and late term births (Table 6) (p=0.033). The crude odds of early term birth in Caucasian women is 4.06 (95% CI 3.04, 5.43) and for African American women

the odds ratio is 2.48 (95% CI 1.75, 3.51) when considering the interaction between race and GBS status. Moreover, when gestational age was considered as a continuous variable the interaction between GBS and race was also significant (Table 5) (p=0.0245). However, the significant interaction between race and GBS status disappears when adjusting for marital status, smoking status, income level, and insurance.

Logistic regression was performed to determine if GBS positive status was associated with shortened gestational age (early and late term births) without considering effect measure modification. Potential confounders were determined based on previous knowledge and percent changes in odds ratios from the gold standard (Table 7). The model that had both small changes in odds ratios and included potential confounders we deemed important *a prior* were included in the final model. Potential confounders adjusted for in the logistic regression analyses included: marital status, continuous maternal age, education, employment status, gravidity, smoking status, income level, and insurance . Multivariable analysis indicated that the odds of early term birth was increased by 3 fold in GBS positive women (OR 3.28; 95%CI 2.60 - 4.15; p <0.0001) adjusting for marital status, smoking status, income level and insurance.

In our study African American infants had an average birth weight of 3234.7 grams and Caucasian infants had on average a significantly higher birth weight of 3412.5 grams (p<0.001). African American women historically have higher prevalence of colonization and adverse neonatal outcomes due to GBS colonization (2, 18). Our results showed lower birth weights among African American women and lower birth weight among GBS positive women. These results indicate that GBS colonization could potentially be a contributing factor to the low birth weight we found among African

American women. However, the pathway from GBS colonization to lower birth weight in African Americans may not be through decreased gestational age. Some researchers present gestational age as a mediating variable and believe controlling for gestational age in studies on the factors contributing to preterm birth will create bias (87).

Strengths and Limitations

Our study has several innate strengths. There is little room for misclassification bias due to the clearly defined outcomes and recruitment methodology. The study results are strengthened by the lack of missing data in the dataset especially within the outcome and predictor variables. In addition, the population was clearly stratified in terms of age, race, and other demographic data in this and previous studies (83-85).

Limitations of the study should be noted. The study is limited to data drawn from one hospital in the South Eastern United States and is yet to be replicated elsewhere.

In addition there appears to be a possible sampling bias that may make it hard to generalize to the larger population. Theoretically if during the parent study the preterm cases and term controls were selected without regard to race then the sample should reflect the racial distribution and disparities present in the source population. The distribution of our sample lead us to believe there may have been an oversampling of Caucasian preterm GBS positive women or African American term GBS negative women in the parent study. This resulted in a relatively equal proportion of GBS positive women in each race category among term births, with Caucasians having a slightly higher proportion of GBS positive results. Historically African American women have higher prevalence of GBS colonization than Caucasian women, and this was not seen in our study.

The risk factors associated with early term can be multifactorial and therefore difficult to contribute to a single risk factor. There could be confounders that we have not yet considered or controlled for in our study. The fact that the Group B positive women had a higher incidence of smokers is a cause for concern. Smoking is known to be associated with lower birth weight and therefore should be considered further in future analysis. This finding could be unrelated, could be a contributing factor to early delivery, or could be because of increased susceptibility to colonization due to smoking.

Lastly, there could have been misclassification due to the differences in using last missed period or ultrasound dating to determine gestational age. Although studies have shown that there is little difference in the two methods, a difference in a day could have an impact on how a baby is classified. When grouping gestational age into preterm and term infants, or early term and late term, a single day can change the classification of a birth. However, this would not have as a strong an impact if gestational age was used as a continuous variable. Moreover, as stated earlier, on average LMP estimates gestational age 0.8 days longer than the ultrasound method and often there is agreement between the methods (49, 53).

Public Health Implications

Recent reports have described the period of "term birth" (delivery after the completion of 37 weeks of gestation) as non-uniform and have suggested that pregnancies should be managed in such a way as to prolong gestational age (56-58). The

determinants of early term birth have not been extensively studied; although lower gestational age can have a large impact on the health and development of the child. Early term birth (37 - 39 weeks) and late term births (39 to 42 weeks) have different impacts on neonatal outcome (69-71). Studies primarily examine impacts of preterm birth versus term birth rather than looking at early term versus late term births. Infants born with a longer gestational age have lower neonatal and infant mortality rates (56). The physiologic reasons for early onset of labor at term have not been extensively studied in part because the pathologic consequences are largely unclear and not emphasized clinically. Since the causal factors for early term labor and delivery have not been clearly established, we examined one of the potential bacterial factors – cervical vaginal GBS colonization - screened between 35 - 37 weeks as a factor associated with this condition.

The results of our study, based on screening of 1,662 women from Nashville Birth Cohort in Tennessee, USA, illustrate that women who are GBS positive between 35-37 weeks gestation are more likely to have an early term birth and a child with a lower birth weight. In our population, GBS positive women are 3 times more likely to deliver between 37 and 39 weeks compared to delivering 39 to 41 weeks. Our results suggest that women who are GBS positive have a greater risk of an early term birth and it is also associated with significant reduction in birth weight. Both of which can contribute to morbidities similar to that seen in infection associated with preterm birth.

In addition to its association with higher rates of infant morbidity and mortality early term birth can affect the development of the child, the cost of healthcare and may prolong hospital stays (56, 57). Studies have shown associations between infants born during the early term period and lower cognitive development and in some cases lower IQ (69-71).

Future Directions

More studies are required to determine how GBS positive pregnancies should be managed in order to prolong the gestational age of the child and to determine, if prolonged, is there better childhood outcomes. As suggested by Reddy et al, 40 weeks of gestation has the lowest infant mortality rates across all races and should be regarded as the optimal gestational age to use as a control group rather than analyzing infants born over the entire term period (56). Future studies should begin with gestational age as a continuous variable or break the "term" period into smaller groups in order to better illustrate differences in outcomes based on gestational age. The few studies that have done this have been able to show that outcomes differ from 37 to 42 weeks gestation.

The CDC currently recommends that women who are GBS positive should be treated with intrapartum antibiotic prophylaxis except in the instance of cesarean delivery (18). Some studies suggest this treatment reduces the risk to the neonate of early onset diseases. However, a recent Cochrane review concluded that there was insufficient evidence and bias in the major studies done on the subject and therefore more studies need to be done before a strong conclusion can be drawn (29). Additionally, intrapartum antibiotic prophylaxis does not address the issue of prolonging the pregnancy because the recommended antibiotics are only given after the rupture of the membrane and/or initiation of labor. Physicians and future studies should begin to explore how to prolong pregnancies of women who are GBS positive if this relationship is found to hold in other populations.

Once GBS colonization is confirmed as one of the risk factors for early term birth, future studies should consider the mechanistic factors leading to early term birth. These can include differences in either maternal or fetal immune response, resulting in early labor. A review of the association between GBS and preterm delivery suggest that bacterial products such as peptidoglycan polysaccharide and phospholipase, can induce a cytokine cascade that may result in labor by stimulation of the prostaglandin pathway (86). Previous studies have also shown that different bacteria produce unique biomarker signatures and GBS provokes a unique inflammatory response from fetal tissues (9). Based on these studies and our own current findings reported here, in future studies we will examine biomarkers that are associated with GBS colonization in an attempt to elucidate the mechanistic factors associated with this condition.

Currently there is no GBS vaccine available, however there are several phase II studies being done. An effective vaccine would prevent colonization in women and transplacental transfer of antibody to infants (11). A GBS vaccine could prevent early and late-onset GBS disease in infants and may have an effect on the racial disparities that exist in neonatal GBS disease. The uneven distribution of GBS serotype in the world has created barriers to producing effective vaccines (35). Although phase II trials of the vaccine are promising there continues to be issues with safety of testing on pregnant women and the durability of the vaccine over time (46).

References

- Group B Strep Infections: GBS. 2011. (<u>http://www.americanpregnancy.org/pregnancycomplications/groupbstrepinfection.html</u>). (Accessed 12/12/2011 2011).
- 2. Phares CR, Lynfield R, Farley MM, et al. Epidemiology of invasive group B streptococcal disease in the United States, 1999-2005. *JAMA*. United States, 2008:2056-65.
- 3. Schuchat A. Group B streptococcal disease: from trials and tribulations to triumph and trepidation. *Clin Infect Dis.* United States, 2001:751-6.
- 4. Aharoni A, Potasman I, Levitan Z, et al. Postpartum maternal group B streptococcal meningitis. *Rev Infect Dis* 1990;12(2):273-6.
- 5. Domingo P, Barquet N, Alvarez M, et al. Group B streptococcal meningitis in adults: report of twelve cases and review. *Clin Infect Dis* 1997;25(5):1180-7.
- 6. Guerin JM, Leibinger F, Mofredj A, et al. Streptococcus B meningitis in post-partum. J Infect 1997;34(2):151-3.
- 7. Katz V, Bowes WA, Jr. Perinatal group B streptococcal infections across intact amniotic membranes. *J Reprod Med* 1988;33(5):445-9.
- 8. Desa DJ, Trevenen CL. Intrauterine infections with group B beta-haemolytic streptococci. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 1984;91(3):237-9.
- 9. Menon R, Peltier MR, Eckardt J, et al. Diversity in cytokine response to bacteria associated with preterm birth by fetal membranes. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*. United States, 2009:306 e1-6.
- 10. Early-onset and late-onset neonatal group B streptococcal disease--United States, 1996-2004. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* United States, 2005:1205-8.
- 11. Verani JR, Schrag SJ. Group B streptococcal disease in infants: progress in prevention and continued challenges. *Clin Perinatol*. United States, 2010:375-92.
- 12. Active Bacterial Core Surveillance Report, Emerging Infections Program Network, Group B Streptococcus, 2008. *Active Bacteria Core Surveillance Report*, 2009.
- 13. Schuchat A. Epidemiology of group B streptococcal disease in the United States: shifting paradigms. *Clin Microbiol Rev* 1998;11(3):497-513.
- 14. Dillon HJ, Khare S, Gray B. Group B Streptococcal carriage and disease: a 6-year prospective study. *Journal of Pediatrics* 1987;110(1):31-6.
- 15. Stapleton RD, Kahn JM, Evans LE, et al. Risk factors for group B streptococcal genitourinary tract colonization in pregnant women. *Obstet Gynecol*. United States, 2005:1246-52.
- 16. Regan JA, Klebanoff MA, Nugent RP, et al. Colonization with group B streptococci in pregnancy and adverse outcome. VIP Study Group. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*. United States, 1996:1354-60.
- 17. Yancey MK, Duff P, Kubilis P, et al. Risk factors for neonatal sepsis. *Obstet Gynecol*. United States, 1996:188-94.
- 18. Verani JR, McGee L, Schrag SJ. Prevention of perinatal group B streptococcal diseaserevised guidelines from CDC, 2010. *MMWR Recomm Rep*. United States, 2010:1-36.
- 19. Oddie S, Embleton ND. Risk factors for early onset neonatal group B streptococcal sepsis: case-control study. *BMJ* 2002;325(7359):308.
- 20. Adair CE, Kowalsky L, Quon H, et al. Risk factors for early-onset group B streptococcal disease in neonates: a population-based case-control study. *CMAJ* 2003;169(3):198-203.

- 21. Schuchat A, Zywicki SS, Dinsmoor MJ, et al. Risk factors and opportunities for prevention of early-onset neonatal sepsis: a multicenter case-control study. *Pediatrics* 2000;105(1 Pt 1):21-6.
- 22. Campbell JR, Hillier SL, Krohn MA, et al. Group B streptococcal colonization and serotype-specific immunity in pregnant women at delivery. *Obstet Gynecol* 2000;96(4):498-503.
- 23. Schuchat A, Oxtoby M, Cochi S, et al. Population-based risk factors for neonatal group B streptococcal disease: results of a cohort study in metropolitan Atlanta. *J Infect Dis* 1990;162(3):672-7.
- 24. Centers for Disease Control and P. Perinatal group B streptococcal disease after universal screening recommendations--United States, 2003-2005. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep* 2007;56(28):701-5.
- 25. Yancey MK, Schuchat A, Brown LK, et al. The accuracy of late antenatal screening cultures in predicting genital group B streptococcal colonization at delivery. *Obstet Gynecol* 1996;88(5):811-5.
- 26. Towers CV, Rumney PJ, Asrat T, et al. The accuracy of late third-trimester antenatal screening for group B streptococcus in predicting colonization at delivery. *Am J Perinatol* 2010;27(10):785-90.
- 27. Schrag SJ, Zell ER, Lynfield R, et al. A population-based comparison of strategies to prevent early-onset group B streptococcal disease in neonates. *N Engl J Med* 2002;347(4):233-9.
- 28. Stedman's Medical Dictionary. Baltimore, MD: Waverly Press, Inc., 1976.
- 29. Ohlsson A, Shah VS. Intrapartum antibiotics for known maternal Group B streptococcal colonization. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2009(3):CD007467.
- 30. Pinto NM, Soskolne EI, Pearlman MD, et al. Neonatal early-onset group B streptococcal disease in the era of intrapartum chemoprophylaxis: residual problems. *J Perinatol* 2003;23(4):265-71.
- 31. Van Dyke MK, Phares CR, Lynfield R, et al. Evaluation of universal antenatal screening for group B streptococcus. *N Engl J Med* 2009;360(25):2626-36.
- 32. Puopolo KM, Madoff LC, Eichenwald EC. Early-onset group B streptococcal disease in the era of maternal screening. *Pediatrics*. United States, 2005:1240-6.
- 33. Eisenberg E, Craig AS, Gautam S, et al. Beyond screening: identifying new barriers to early onset group B streptococcal disease prevention. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* 2005;24(6):520-4.
- 34. Berardi A, Lugli L, Rossi C, et al. Intrapartum antibiotic prophylaxis failure and group-B streptococcus early-onset disease. *J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med* 2011;24(10):1221-4.
- 35. Clifford V, Garland SM, Grimwood K. Prevention of neonatal group B streptococcus disease in the 21st century. *J Paediatr Child Health* 2011.
- 36. Escobar GJ. The neonatal "sepsis work-up": personal reflections on the development of an evidence-based approach toward newborn infections in a managed care organization. *Pediatrics* 1999;103(1 Suppl E):360-73.
- 37. Richter SS, Howard WJ, Weinstein MP, et al. Multicenter evaluation of the BD Phoenix Automated Microbiology System for antimicrobial susceptibility testing of Streptococcus species. *J Clin Microbiol* 2007;45(9):2863-71.
- 38. Koenig JM, Keenan WJ. Group B streptococcus and early-onset sepsis in the era of maternal prophylaxis. *Pediatr Clin North Am* 2009;56(3):689-708, Table of Contents.
- 39. Varman M, Romero JR, Cornish NE, et al. Characterization and mechanisms of resistance of group B streptococcal isolates obtained at a community hospital. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis* 2005;24(6):431-3.
- 40. Chohan L, Hollier LM, Bishop K, et al. Patterns of antibiotic resistance among group B streptococcus isolates: 2001-2004. *Infect Dis Obstet Gynecol* 2006;2006:57492.

- 41. Manning SD, Foxman B, Pierson CL, et al. Correlates of antibiotic-resistant group B streptococcus isolated from pregnant women. *Obstet Gynecol* 2003;101(1):74-9.
- 42. Johri AK, Paoletti LC, Glaser P, et al. Group B Streptococcus: global incidence and vaccine development. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 2006;4(12):932-42.
- 43. Mohle-Boetani JC, Schuchat A, Plikaytis BD, et al. Comparison of prevention strategies for neonatal group B streptococcal infection. A population-based economic analysis. *JAMA* 1993;270(12):1442-8.
- 44. Colbourn T, Asseburg C, Bojke L, et al. Prenatal screening and treatment strategies to prevent group B streptococcal and other bacterial infections in early infancy: cost-effectiveness and expected value of information analyses. *Health Technol Assess*. England, 2007:1-226, iii.
- 45. Jordan HT, Farley MM, Craig A, et al. Revisiting the need for vaccine prevention of lateonset neonatal group B streptococcal disease: a multistate, population-based analysis. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* 2008;27(12):1057-64.
- 46. Heath PT. An update on vaccination against group B streptococcus. *Expert Rev Vaccines* 2011;10(5):685-94.
- 47. Standard terminology for reporting of reproductive health statistics in the United States. *Public Health Rep* 1988;103(5):464-71.
- 48. Working party to discuss nomenclature based on gestational age and birthweight. *Arch Dis Child* 1970;45(243):730.
- 49. Hoffman CS, Messer LC, Mendola P, et al. Comparison of gestational age at birth based on last menstrual period and ultrasound during the first trimester. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol* 2008;22(6):587-96.
- 50. Waller DK, Spears WD, Gu Y, et al. Assessing number-specific error in the recall of onset of last menstrual period. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol* 2000;14(3):263-7.
- 51. Kaneshiro N, Storck S, Zieve D. Gestational age: MedlinePlus Medical Encyclopedia. 2012. (http://www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/ency/article/002367.htm). (Accessed).
- 52. Kramer MS, McLean FH, Boyd ME, et al. The validity of gestational age estimation by menstrual dating in term, preterm, and postterm gestations. *JAMA* 1988;260(22):3306-8.
- 53. Mustafa G, David RJ. Comparative accuracy of clinical estimate versus menstrual gestational age in computerized birth certificates. *Public Health Rep* 2001;116(1):15-21.
- 54. Goldenberg RL, Culhane JF, Iams JD, et al. Epidemiology and causes of preterm birth. *Lancet*. England, 2008:75-84.
- 55. Simmons LE, Rubens CE, Darmstadt GL, et al. Preventing preterm birth and neonatal mortality: exploring the epidemiology, causes, and interventions. *Semin Perinatol*. United States: 2010. Published by Elsevier Inc., 2010:408-15.
- 56. Reddy UM, Bettegowda VR, Dias T, et al. Term pregnancy: a period of heterogeneous risk for infant mortality. *Obstet Gynecol*. United States, 2011:1279-87.
- 57. Fleischman AR, Oinuma M, Clark SL. Rethinking the definition of "term pregnancy". *Obstet Gynecol.* United States, 2010:136-9.
- 58. Zhang X, Kramer MS. Variations in Mortality and Morbidity by Gestational Age among Infants Born at Term. *The Journal of Pediatrics* 2009;154(3):358-62.e1.
- 59. Tita AT, Landon MB, Spong CY, et al. Timing of elective repeat cesarean delivery at term and neonatal outcomes. *N Engl J Med* 2009;360(2):111-20.
- 60. Bastek JA, Sammel MD, Pare E, et al. Adverse neonatal outcomes: examining the risks between preterm, late preterm, and term infants. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2008;199(4):367 e1-8.
- 61. Gouyon JB, Vintejoux A, Sagot P, et al. Neonatal outcome associated with singleton birth at 34-41 weeks of gestation. *Int J Epidemiol* 2010;39(3):769-76.
- 62. Consortium on Safe L, Hibbard JU, Wilkins I, et al. Respiratory morbidity in late preterm births. *JAMA* 2010;304(4):419-25.

- 63. Melamed N, Klinger G, Tenenbaum-Gavish K, et al. Short-term neonatal outcome in low-risk, spontaneous, singleton, late preterm deliveries. *Obstet Gynecol* 2009;114(2 Pt 1):253-60.
- 64. Cheng YW, Nicholson JM, Nakagawa S, et al. Perinatal outcomes in low-risk term pregnancies: do they differ by week of gestation? *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2008;199(4):370 e1-7.
- 65. de Almeida MF, Guinsburg R, da Costa JO, et al. Resuscitative procedures at birth in late preterm infants. *J Perinatol* 2007;27(12):761-5.
- 66. Petrini JR, Dias T, McCormick MC, et al. Increased risk of adverse neurological development for late preterm infants. *J Pediatr* 2009;154(2):169-76.
- 67. Escobar GJ, Joffe S, Gardner MN, et al. Rehospitalization in the first two weeks after discharge from the neonatal intensive care unit. *Pediatrics* 1999;104(1):e2.
- 68. Bailit JL, Gregory KD, Reddy UM, et al. Maternal and neonatal outcomes by labor onset type and gestational age. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2010;202(3):245 e1- e12.
- 69. Davis EP, Buss C, Muftuler LT, et al. Children's Brain Development Benefits from Longer Gestation. *Front Psychol* 2011;2:1.
- 70. Yang S, Platt RW, Kramer MS. Variation in child cognitive ability by week of gestation among healthy term births. *Am J Epidemiol*. United States, 2010:399-406.
- 71. Ekeus C, Lindstrom K, Lindblad F, et al. Preterm birth, social disadvantage, and cognitive competence in Swedish 18- to 19-year-old men. *Pediatrics*. United States, 2010:e67-73.
- 72. Lindstrom K, Winbladh B, Haglund B, et al. Preterm infants as young adults: a Swedish national cohort study. *Pediatrics* 2007;120(1):70-7.
- 73. Lindstrom K, Lindblad F, Hjern A. Psychiatric morbidity in adolescents and young adults born preterm: a Swedish national cohort study. *Pediatrics* 2009;123(1):e47-53.
- 74. Morse SB, Zheng H, Tang Y, et al. Early school-age outcomes of late preterm infants. *Pediatrics* 2009;123(4):e622-9.
- 75. Talge NM, Holzman C, Wang J, et al. Late-preterm birth and its association with cognitive and socioemotional outcomes at 6 years of age. *Pediatrics* 2010;126(6):1124-31.
- 76. Moster D, Lie RT, Markestad T. Long-term medical and social consequences of preterm birth. *N Engl J Med* 2008;359(3):262-73.
- 77. Chyi LJ, Lee HC, Hintz SR, et al. School outcomes of late preterm infants: special needs and challenges for infants born at 32 to 36 weeks gestation. *J Pediatr* 2008;153(1):25-31.
- 78. Gurka MJ, LoCasale-Crouch J, Blackman JA. Long-term cognition, achievement, socioemotional, and behavioral development of healthy late-preterm infants. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med* 2010;164(6):525-32.
- 79. Lindstrom K, Lindblad F, Hjern A. Preterm birth and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in schoolchildren. *Pediatrics* 2011;127(5):858-65.
- 80. Gibbs RS, Romero R, Hillier SL, et al. A review of premature birth and subclinical infection. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*. United States, 1992:1515-28.
- 81. Gibbs RS. The relationship between infections and adverse pregnancy outcomes: an overview. *Ann Periodontol* 2001;6(1):153-63.
- 82. Bland ML, Vermillion ST, Soper DE. Late third-trimester treatment of rectovaginal group B streptococci with benzathine penicillin G. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*. United States, 2000:372-6.
- 83. Menon R, Velez DR, Morgan N, et al. Genetic regulation of amniotic fluid TNF-alpha and soluble TNF receptor concentrations affected by race and preterm birth. *Hum Genet* 2008;124(3):243-53.

- 84. Velez DR, Fortunato S, Thorsen P, et al. Spontaneous preterm birth in African Americans is associated with infection and inflammatory response gene variants. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*. United States, 2009:209 e1-27.
- 85. Menon R, Fortunato SJ, Edwards DR, et al. Association of genetic variants, ethnicity and preterm birth with amniotic fluid cytokine concentrations. *Ann Hum Genet* 2010;74(2):165-83.
- 86. Valkenburg-van den Berg AW, Sprij AJ, Dekker FW, et al. Association between colonization with Group B Streptococcus and preterm delivery: a systematic review. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand*. England, 2009:958-67.
- 87. Wilcox AJ, Weinberg CR, Basso O. On the pitfalls of adjusting for gestational age at birth. *Am J Epidemiol* 2011;174(9):1062-8.

Characteristics	GBS Positive (n=490)	GBS Negative (n=1,127)	Two-tailed P	Total (n=1,617)
Marital Status, n (%)		••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••		
Single	219 (46.3)	447 (40.7)	0.12	666 (42.4)
Divorced	12 (2.5)	30 (2.7)		42 (2.7)
Married	242 (51.2)	622 (56.6)		864 (54.9)
Annual income, n (%)				
< \$50,000	364 (77.9)	871 (78.9)	0.65	1235 (78.7)
> \$50,000	103 (22.1)	232 (21.1)		335 (21.3)
Insurance, n (%)				
Insured	413 (87.3)	964 (86.5)	0.67	1377 (86.7)
Uninsured	60 (12.7)	150 (13.5)		210 (13.3)
Maternal Race, n (%)				
Caucasian	285 (56.4)	754 (66.0)	*0.0002	1039 (63.1)
African American	220 (43.6)	388 (34.0)		608 (36.9)
Years of education, mean (SD)	13.8 (2.3)	13.8 (2.4)	0.97	13.8 (2.3)
Maternal Smoking during pregnancy, n (%)				
Nonsmoker	412 (84.9)	989 (88.3)	0.07	1401 (87.2)
Smoker	73 (15.1)	132 (11.7)		205 (12.8)
Maternal Age in years, mean (SD)	26.9 (5.6)	27.1 (5.6)	0.64	27.1 (5.6)
Gestational age in days, mean (SD)	271.1 (6.9)	274.7 (6.2)	*<0.0001	273.6 (6.6)
Birth weight in grams, mean (SD)	3285.3 (480.4)	3373.8 (426.7)	*0.0005	3346.5 (445.4)
Gravidity, n (%)				
1	136 (28.9)	320 (29.4)	0.12	456 (29.3)
2 - 3	216 (46.0)	544 (50.0)		760 (48.8)
> 3	118 (24.1)	224 (20.6)		342 (21.9)
Apgar score, mean (SD)		· · · ·		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
At 1 min	8.3 (1.0)	8.4 (0.9)	0.09	8.4 (0.9)
At 5 min	8.9 (0.4)	9.0 (0.3)	*0.02	8.9 (0.3)

 Tables

 Table 1: Demographic and Clinical Data of Participants based on GBS status, Nashville, TN (2003-2010)

*Significant at a 0.05 significance level

	All	Participants*	*	Afr	rican America	n		Caucasian	
Gestational Age (days)	GBS Positive (n= 487)	GBS Negative (n= 1,121)	Р	GBS Positive (n= 209)	GBS Negative (n=383)	Р	GBS Positive (n=278)	GBS Negative (n=738)	Р
Mean \pm SD	271.1 ± 6.9	274.7 ± 6.2	*<0.0001	271.6 ± 7.1	274.4 ± 6.2	*<0.001	270.5 ± 6.7	274.9 ± 6.2	*<0.001
Median	270.2	274.4		272	274.4		270.0	274.8	
Minimum	259	259		259	259		259	259	
Maximum	291	292		289	290		291	292	
Interquartile Range	266-275	271-280		266-276	270-279		266-274	272-280	

Table 2: Gestational age of African Americans and Caucasian newborns, Nashville, TN (2003-2010)

*Significant at a 0.05 significance level **excluded those with missing race information

	All	Participants**		Afri	can Americans		Caucasian			
Birth weight (grams)	GBS Positive (n= 487)	GBS Negative (n= 1,121)	Р	GBS Positive (n= 209)	GBS Negative (n= 278)	Р	GBS Positive (n= 383)	GBS Negative (n= 738)	Р	
	$3284.1 \pm$	3374.4 ±		$3210.2 \pm$	$3248.1 \pm$		3339.6 ±	$3439.9 \pm$		
Mean \pm SD	480.5	426.6	*0.0004	496.2	414.3	0.3213	461.4	418.4	*0.0010	
Median	3249	3348		3212	3250		3300	3409		
Minimum	1952	2075		1952	2075		2020	2082		
Maximum	4896	5322		4554	5115		4896	5322		
Interquartile Range	2957-3604	3080-3656		2870-3560	2955-3515		3024-3670	3140-3719		

Table 3: Gestational weight of African Americans and Caucasian newborns, Nashville, TN (2003-2010)

*Significant at a 0.05 significance level ** excluded those with missing race information

Table 4. Differences in mean gestation	lai age and mean birth weight by	Tace, Masilville TN (2	003-2010)
	African Americans (n=608)	Caucasians (n=1039)	Р
	Mean \pm SD	Mean \pm SD	
Gestational Age in days	273.7 ± 6.7	273.6 ± 6.6	0.440
Birth weight in grams	3234.7 ± 444.9	3412.5 ± 432.7	*<0.001

Table 4: Differences in mean	gestational age and mean birth	n weight by race, Nashville	e TN (2003-2010)

*Significant at a 0.05 significance level

Race	Difference in Days	Lower	Upper
African American Women	-0.39	-0.55	-0.24
Caucasian Women	-0.62	-0.75	-0.49

Table 5: Number of gestational days difference between GBS positive and negative women amongrace based on linear regression, Nashville TN (2003-2010)*

*interaction between GBS and race was found to be significant in linear regression model (p=0.025)

2010)	4.11 D				•	2		. (1010)		P _{BD} ***
	All Part	icipants (n=1,60	(8)	African A	merican (n=59)	2)	Cauca	sian (n=1,016)		r _{BD}
	GBS	GBS		GBS	<u>GBS</u>		GBS	GBS		
	Positive	<u>Negative</u>	<u>OR</u>	Positive	<u>Negative</u>	<u>OR</u>	Positive	<u>Negative</u>	<u>OR</u>	
Early Term	275	313	*3.35	111	120	*2.48	164	193	4.06	*0.033
Late Term	212	808		98	263		114	545		

Table 6: Frequency and crude odds of early and late term birth by Group B Streptococcus status and stratified by race, Nashville TN (2003-2010)**

*Significant at a 0.05 significance level **interaction between GBS and race was found to be significant in logistic regression model (p=0.033) ***P_{BD} – Breslow-Day test for odds ratio heterogeneity between races

	Gol	d Standard	(GS)		Model 1		Model 2			
	OR	Lower	Upper	OR	Lower	Upper	OR	Lower	Upper	
Exposure										
GBS status	3.945	2.849	5.463	3.353	2.688	4.183	3.356	2.661	4.233	
Potential Confounders										
Marital Status	1.056	0.849	1.313				1.008	0.877	1.159	
Annual income	1.189	0.744	1.9				1.313	0.979	1.761	
Insurance	1.148	0.492	2.676				0.917	0.655	1.284	
Maternal Race	1.023	0.697	1.502				1.182	0.909	1.536	
Years of education	0.972	0.889	1.063							
Maternal Smoking in pregnancy	1.082	0.658	1.780							
Maternal Age in years	1.032	0.995	1.071							
Birth weight in grams	0.999	0.914	1.243							
Gravidity	1.066	0.914	1.243							
Apgar score @ 1min	0.998	0.849	1.174							
Description	Adjus	sted for all po confounders			Unadjusted	1	income (ed for marita 50K), insura	nce (y/n),	
Fotal N		865			1,617		and n	naternal race 1,511	: (D/W)	
Early Term		290			589			545		
Precision of 95% CI for Early Term		1.92			1.56			1.59		
Compared to Model #		-			GS			GS		
%Change in Early Term RR		-			-15.01			-14.93		
Compared to Model #	G	S w/o educat	tion	G	S w/o educat	tion	GS	S w/o educat	ion	
%Change in Early Term RR		21.50			3.26			3.36		
Notes	•	observations	s due to							

Table 7. Logistic regression evaluation of confounding of the OR for the gestational age and GBS status, Nashville TN (2003-2010)

		Model 3	3		Model 4			Model 5			
	OR	Lower	Upper	OR	Lower	Upper	OR	Lower	Upper		
Exposure											
GBS status	4.191	3.072	5.717	3.287	2.603	4.151	3.271	2.589	4.133		
Potential Confounders											
Marital Status	1.057	0.872	1.281	1.035	0.898	1.193	0.980	0.840	1.144		
Annual income	1.328	849.000	2.078	1.333	0.992	1.791	1.287	0.951	1.740		
nsurance	1.038	0.456	2.365	0.912	0.651	1.278	0.925	0.660	1.296		
Maternal Race	1.167	0.814	1.674	1.221	0.937	1.591	1.214	0.931	1.583		
Years of education	0.969	0.892	1.051								
Maternal Smoking in pregnancy				1.409	1.015	1.955	1.397	1.006	1.940		
Maternal Age in years							1.022	0.998	1.046		
Birth weight in grams											
Gravidity											
Apgar score @ 1min											
Description	(50K), i	ed for marital s nsurance (y/n) p/w), education	,maternal race	inco (y/n)	sted for marit me (50K), in maternal rac ing during pr	surance ce (b/w),	(50K), insu (b/w), smo	or marital stat rance (y/n),m king during p ternal age (yea	aternal race regn (y/n),		
Fotal N		888			1,501			1,495	,		
Early Term		296			542			541			
Precision of 95% CI for Early Term		1.86			1.59			1.60			
Compared to Model #		GS			GS			GS			
6 Change in Early Term RR		6.24			-16.68			-17.08			
Compared to Model #		GS w/o educ	cation	G	S w/o educ	ation	GS	w/o educat	ion		
6 Change in Early Term RR		29.07			1.23			0.74			
Notes					t % change cation and f		in demogra	ge has little aphics all we the age (sma	ere		

	Model 6			GS w/o education			
	OR	Lower	Upper	OR	Lower	Upper	
Exposure							
GBS status	4.268	3.104	5.868	3.25	2.53	4.16	
Potential Confounders							
Marital Status	0.994	0.804	1.230	1.061	0.902	1.248	
Annual income	1.261	0.767	1.994	1.211	0.882	1.665	
Insurance	1.089	0.478	2.485	0.793	0.55	1.142	
Maternal Race	1.166	0.803	1.695	0.983	0.74	1.305	
Years of education	0.951	0.872	1.038				
Maternal Smoking in pregnancy	1.258	0.773	2.046	1.13	0.797	1.603	
Maternal Age in years	1.036	0.999	1.074	1.017	0.991	1.045	
Birth weight in grams				0.999	0.999	0.999	
Gravidity	1.06	0.911	1.232	1.094	0.973	1.229	
Apgar score @ 1min	0.992	0.847	1.162	0.994	0.872	1.133	
Description	Adjust		thing except	Adjust	ed for every	thing except	
		birth wei	ght		educ		
Total N		865			1,432		
Early Term		290		519			
Precision of 95% CI for Early Term		1.89			1.64		
Compared to Model #		GS			GS		
%Change in Early Term RR		8.19			-17.69	1	
Compared to Model #		GS w/o edu	cation		GS w/o edu	cation	
%Change in Early Term RR		31.44			0.00		
Notes	education is missing in many observations and should not be included as confounder b/c lose too much information		use this as GS model since it has everything except education, and education changes the number of observations dramatically				